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RFP No. 1-12-C253 
Procurement, Contract Administration and Enforcement and Related Legal 

Services 
for the 

Metropolitan Washington Airports Authority 
 
Questions and Answers 
 
Notice: Questions may have been edited for clarity and relevance. 
 
1. Under Criterion 2 "Qualifications and Experience of Offeror Firm" the second thing 

listed is "the proposing firm's ability to provide the logistical and other resources 
required to support the attorneys in performing the SOW services." My question is 
what type of logistics is this referring to? What types of resources is the review panel 
interested in seeing? 
 
Answer:  Logistics, for purposes of this RFP, primarily refers to clerical and research 
support that is regularly (and, when needed, immediately) available to the attorneys 
who would assigned to work under a task order contract awarded pursuant to this 
solicitation. 

 
2. Estimated Dollar Value:  According to the Project Overview for this RFP, the 

Estimated Dollar Value for this RFP is up to $200,000 annually.  Is there a definite 
price cap for proposals?  Is $200,000 a hard price cap for proposals for this contract? 
Is the Authority suggesting that potential contractors must keep their price proposals 
under $200,000 in order to stay competitive?  Will a price proposal for over $200,000 
be considered as a valid proposal? 
 
Answer:  No, the RFP does not ask for total task order prices.  The $200,000 number is 
meant only as an estimate of the annual value of task order work performed under the 
contract or contracts awarded.  The estimated value of any single contract is 
dependent upon the number of contracts awarded.  The RFP pricing schedule only 
requires offerors to propose hourly prices.  If an offeror receives a contract and is 
issued a task order for a specific task, the prices it proposed in response to the RFP 
are the ones it will be required to use in calculating its fees for the work performed 
pursuant to the task order. 
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3. LDBE Price Proposals in Relation to Standard Price Proposals:  There are two RFPs 
for Legal Services - Procurement Counsel; one has no LDBE requirement and the 
other has a 100% LDBE requirement.  The RFP with a 100% LDBE requirement has the 
exact same Hourly Estimates and a lower Estimated Dollar Value, than the RFP with 
no LDBE requirement.   
 
a) Can LDBEs submit proposals for both of these RFPs?   
 
Answer:  Yes, but if successful in both solicitations, the LDBE will only be awarded a 
single contract.  If an LDBE submits a proposal for the RFP with no LDBE 
participation requirement, it will be competing against non-LDBE firms. 
 
b) If an LDBE submits a proposal for both RFPs, should the LDBE use the same 

hourly rates in each Price Proposal?   
 

Answer:  The use of the same hourly rates is not required.  
 

c) If an LDBE uses different rates in the two Price Proposals, what if any effect will 
that fact have on the way that the proposal is evaluated? 

 
Answer:  The rates proposed by an offeror in one solicitation will have an effect on the 
evaluation of the offeror’s price proposal in that solicitation only; the fact that other 
rates are proposed by the offeror in the other solicitation will have no bearing on the 
evaluation of its price proposal in the former solicitation. 

 
4. Page Limit for Technical Proposals:  According to the Proposal Submission 

Requirements section of Attachment 02 of this RFP, the Technical Proposal will be 
limited to a total of five (5) pages, not including exhibits and attachments.  It goes on 
to state that the Technical Proposal will include resumes with names, titles, education 
and general legal experience of the attorneys who will be assigned to perform the 
SOW Services.  Must said resumes be included in the body of the Technical Proposal, 
which is subject to the 5-page limit?  If the resumes are not included in the body of 
the Technical Proposal and are instead attached to the Technical Proposal as 
exhibits, will the Technical Proposal be deemed complete and valid?  If an offeror 
attaches a full professional resume for each assigned attorney as an exhibit to the 
Technical Proposal, must the offeror also include a summary of each resume in the 
body of the Technical Proposal? 
 
Answer:  Resumes, or summaries thereof, need not be included in the body of the 
Technical Proposal.  It is the Airports Authority’s preference that resumes be included 
in an attachment or exhibit.  Attachments and exhibits are not subject to the 5-page 
limitation on Technical Proposals. 
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5. Exhibits generally:  What, if any, supporting documents cannot be submitted as an 

exhibit to the Technical Proposal?  Are there any circumstances under which an 
exhibit could invalidate an otherwise valid Technical Proposal?  If so, what are they?     
 
Answer:  Offerors are not restricted in the types of supporting documents they may 
attach to their proposals.  It is unlikely that any exhibit would invalidate an otherwise 
valid proposal.  Offerors are advised, however, that if they require changes to the 
contract language stated in the RFP, such changes must be proposed through the 
question and answer process prior to submission of offers.    

 
6. Large, non-LDBE firms have approached us and asked us to consider teaming with 

them as a designated subcontractor, in order to provide them with our experience in 
specific areas of practice. 
 
a. Will our participation as a proposed subcontractor on an unrestricted or open 
procurement cause our offer as a prime for LDBE procurement for the same services 
to be viewed less favorably?   
 
Answer:  No. 

 
b.  Will our participation as a proposed subcontractor on an unrestricted or open 
procurement cause our offer as a prime for LDBE procurement for other legal 
services?   
 
Answer:  No. 

 
7. Has the Authority considered how it will evaluate proposals that include proposed 

designated subcontractors for specific areas of practice within a solicitation?     
 
Answer:  A proposal that has some services being delivered by a subcontractor firm 
will be evaluated in the same manner as a proposal without any subcontractor firms 
(i.e., the Authority will consider a designated subcontractor firm and its identified 
attorneys just as it considers the prime contractor firm and its attorneys), with one 
exception: the prime/subcontractor proposal may be scored lower if it does not 
demonstrate a relationship between the prime contractor and subcontractor firms 
which ensures that the subcontractor work will be performed at a level of efficiency 
and productivity that is no less than the level that would occur were the prime 
contractor firm to perform that work itself.  
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8. The Authority has issued both Open and LDBE Solicitations for legal services 
outlined in the Scope of Work.  How will the Authority distribute work between/among 
the Open awardee(s), on the one hand, and the LDBE awardee(s), on the other?     
 
Answer:  The Authority intends that the approximately one-quarter to one-third of the 
work to be performed under contracts awarded pursuant to these two solicitations will 
be performed by the LDBE firm or firms selected under the LDBE solicitation.  Factors 
to be considered in deciding whether a particular task order will be awarded to 
offerors selected under the “open” or LDBE solicitation include, but are not limited to: 
the nature and size of the task order work; the amount of task order work previously 
assigned to “open” and “LDBE” task order contractors; any particular experiences or 
competences possessed by such contractors that may make them especially qualified 
or suitable to perform the task order work; and any urgencies posed by the task order 
work that may make firms with a larger a resource base or a particular expertise better 
suited to perform the work.  

 
9. Will the Authority impute a subcontractor’s qualifications to the prime for purposes of 

evaluation, as is often done in federal procurements?     
 
Answer:  Yes. 

 
10. Will the Authority impute a subcontractor’s employee’s qualifications to the prime for 

purposes of evaluation, as is often done in federal procurements?     
 
Answer:  Yes. 

 
11. Will the Authority impute a subcontractors experience and past performance to the 

prime for purposes of evaluation, as is often done in federal procurements?     
 
Answer:  Yes.  

 
12. Will the Authority impute a subcontractor’s employees experience and past 

performance to the prime for purposes of evaluation, as is often done in federal 
procurements?     
 
Answer:  Yes. 

 
13. Does the Authority contemplate making a single award for the Solicitation, or will the 

Authority likely make multiple awards?     
 
Answer:  The Authority contemplates making an award of one or two task order 
contracts under this RFP. 
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14. If the Authority makes multiple awards under a single Solicitation, how will the work 

be distributed among awardees?  Will awardees be expected to compete for individual 
task orders?  If so, how will task order proposals be evaluated?     
 
Answer:  The Authority is in the process of developing policy regarding the degree to 
which it will compete task orders among multiple awardees of task order contracts.  
However, it is anticipated that the policy will not require any price competition where 
the task order contracts were awarded based at least in part on proposed pricing and 
such pricing has been incorporated into the awarded contracts.  The policy will 
provide a process whereby all awardees are given fair consideration for each task 
order.   

 
15. To what extent may an awardee subcontract legal services to one or more law firms?     

 
Answer:  In the case of an LDBE set aside, subcontracts must be to other LDBE 
subcontractors.  An offeror awarded a contract pursuant to this RFP or other 
Authority RFPs for legal services will not be able to subcontract services to another 
firm unless (i) it had identified the subcontractor firm in its proposal as a firm that, 
under subcontract, would perform certain portions of the Statement of Work services, 
or (ii) it receives the approval of the Authority to do so. 

 
16. To what extent may an LDBE awardee subcontract any work under a task order?     

 
Answer:  See response to question 15. 

 
17. To what extent, if any, will an LDBE be obligated to self-perform work under a task 

order?  In other words, if the LDBE has identified an acceptable subcontractor for a 
specific task order, is there a minimum amount (of labor hours, or task order value, or 
other measure) that the prime is obligated to perform with its own employees?     
 
Answer:  Where an LDBE offeror which has been awarded a task order contract, has 
stated in its proposal that certain Statement of Work services will be performed by an 
identified subcontractor firm, then, to the degree a task order issued to that offeror 
firm calls for the delivery of such services, the services may be performed entirely by 
the subcontractor firm.  Also, as indicated in response to Question 21, an LDBE 
offeror receiving a contract award pursuant to this RFP will be able to subcontract 
task order services to another firm if it receives, at the time the task order is issued, 
the approval of the Authority to do so. 

 
18. If our application for LDBE certification has been submitted but not yet acted upon by 

MWAA EEO, will our proposal be eligible for evaluation?     
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Answer:  Yes. 
 

19. Must LDBE status be approved prior to proposal submission?     
 
Answer:  No. 

 
20. Must LBE status be approved prior to award?     

 
Answer:  Yes. 

 
21. As shown in the Pricing Schedule, the hours projected for legal services declines for 

each of Option Year 1, 2, and 3, and then increases for Option Year 4.  Why does the 
Authority view the decrease as likely in Option Year 1, 2, and 3?  Why does the 
Authority anticipate an increased need for legal services in Procurement in Option 
Year 4?     
 
Answer:  This information is not necessary for proposal preparation.  In any event, 
projected hours decline over the years because the Authority is currently in the 
process of revising its Contracting Manual and reviewing it procurement operations 
which may require significant legal services input over the next six to 15 months; 
thereafter, the amount of services is projected to taper off.  Projected services are 
projected to increase in the final option year in line with potential increased capital 
construction activities and related procurements.  

 
22. The Pricing Schedule shows the heaviest anticipated need for Legal Services to be 

during the Base Year, with an overall decline in the Option Years. This suggests that 
the Authority may anticipate a significant amount of work shortly following contract 
award?     
 
Answer:  See answer to Question 21. 

 
23. The issuance, of multiple solicitations at one time and the likelihood that incumbents 

were granted earlier information, I am requesting that the period for questions be 
extended two weeks and that the proposals for each be sequentially set for 
submission one week apart beginning on December 15.   
 
Answer:  No provider of legal services, incumbents or otherwise, was provided 
“earlier information.”  In any event, the date for the submission of proposals has been 
extended to January 16, 2013. 
 

24. How were the services described in the SOW procured for the last two years and 
identify the contract, task order, billing rate by hour, total hours, and specialty 
utilized?   
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Answer:  This information is not necessary for proposal preparation. 
 

25. What was the legal budget for services described in the SOW for the past two years 
and for upcoming year?  If the amounts exceed the estimates for the various services 
please explain underruns or overruns in excess of ten per cent?   
 
Answer:  This information is not necessary for proposal preparation. 
 

26. The SOW for Aviation, Corporate Governance includes a myriad of legal topics 
including all statutory and regulatory matters, litigation, procurement including 
goods, services, and construction interstate compact law, and grants as well as an 
expiring use and agreement.  How is the work described hereunder different from the 
same work described under the other requests for legal services issued on November 
2, 2012?   
 
Answer:  This information is not necessary for proposal preparation. 
 

27. What are the minimum requirements for attorney and paralegal staff for responsibility 
and demonstrated capability as stated in section V12?   
 
Answer:  Minimum requirement for “responsibility” for all attorneys performing 
services is licensure by any state bar association.  The lead attorney must be licensed 
to practice law in Virginia.  There are no minimum requirements for paralegal staff.  
Minimum requirement for “demonstrated capability” is a showing of relevant 
experience over the past five years, providing at least some of the services described 
in the Statement of Work. 
 

28. What specialties are required to be in the blended rate for partner and associates as 
set forth on the Pricing Schedule?   
 
Answer:  The blended rates are expected to encompass or reflect any legal 
“specialties” an offeror believes to be necessary or desirable in providing the 
services described in the RFP. 
 

29. What task order contracts were utilized in the past to obtain the services 
contemplated by the SOW?   
 
Answer:  None. 
 

30. What rates were paid for the various specialties in transportation and aviation law, 
DBE and LDBE law, Use and Lease Agreement drafting and policy considerations, and 
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procurement law as referenced in the SOW and what were the qualification 
requirements for attorneys who provided those services?   
 
Answer:  This information is not necessary for proposal preparation. 
 

31. What is the basis for a requirement to reference five prior years of specific experience 
in the broad categories described in the SOW?   
 
Answer:  The RFP does not require five years of experience but relevant experience 
within the past five years.  This is based on the Authority’s determination that 
pertinent experience within this five-year period (versus experience prior to the past 
five years) is an important indicator of an ability to deliver the work to be performed 
under an awarded contract. 
 

32. What are the recurring standard units of work that make the use of a task order 
appropriate under the Contracting Manual?   
 
Answer:  This information is not necessary for proposal preparation.  In any event, the 
RFP states that work performed under an awarded contract will be compensated on a 
time and materials basis.   
 

33. What are the Contracting Manual References that authorize a task order contract for 
the various types of services contained in this and the other solicitations?   
 
Answer:  Section 3.8.1 of the Contracting Manual. 
 

34. What is the basis for waiving conflict of interest issues in hiring and provide the basis 
for granting all such waivers in the past 5 years?   
 
Answer:  This information is not necessary for proposal preparation.  In any event, 
contractor conflicts of interests will be dealt with on a case-by-case basis. 
 

35. What is the basis of insurance coverage limits and what prior legal contracts 
contained the current or similar requirements?   
 
Answer:  The insurance coverages are set by the Authority’s Risk Management 
Department, and have been included in all of the legal services RFPs recently issued 
by the Authority. 
 

36. What is the basis of a good cause waiver of the insurance requirements included in 
the solicitation?   
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Answer:  Requests for insurance waivers will be dealt with on a case-by-case basis.  
Professional liability insurance requirements will not be waived.  See Amendment Two 
for update to liability insurance requirements.   
 

37. What is the basis for LDBE requirements that have either no requirement or the 
requirement of a 100 per cent set aside?  
 
Answer:  LDBE participation percentages are based upon a review of LDBE firms that 
have been or are eligible to be certified by the Authority and that are determined to be 
able to perform the legal services described in the RFP.   
 

38. What prior contracts for legal services have been awarded using a 100 per cent set 
aside? 
 
Answer: None. 
 

39. What market analyses were used for each of the recent legal service solicitations in 
order to determine what LDBE requirement would be included?  
 
Answer:  See answer to Question 37. 
 

40. How many negotiation sessions in 2013 are contemplated for a Use and Lease 
Agreement that expires in 2014?  
 
Answer:  Unknown at this time. 
 

41. How many drafts are contemplated of a new Use and Lease Agreement?  
 
Answer:  Unknown at this time. 
 

42. What procurement services are contemplated under solicitation 1-12-C243?  
 
Answer:  Unknown at this time. 
 

43.  What are the bases for the estimates of the number of hours included in each of the 
recent solicitations for legal services and what was done to prevent overlap?  
 
Answer:  The Authority has tried to make a reasonable projection of the hours of legal 
services work that will be required annually in connection with each of these recent 
solicitations.  However, these projections are estimates, and the actual hours of work 
will very likely vary from the estimates.   

 


